NASA/CR-2005-213689



Bounding the Spacecraft Atmosphere Design Space for Future Exploration Missions

Kevin E. Lange, Alan T. Perka, Bruce E. Duffield and Frank F. Jeng Jacobs Sverdrup ESC Group Houston, Texas

The NASA STI Program Office ... in Profile

Since its founding, NASA has been dedicated to the advancement of aeronautics and space science. The NASA Scientific and Technical Information (STI) Program Office plays a key part in helping NASA maintain this important role.

The NASA STI Program Office is operated by Langley Research Center, the lead center for NASA's scientific and technical information. The NASA STI Program Office provides access to the NASA STI Database, the largest collection of aeronautical and space science STI in the world. The Program Office is also NASA's institutional mechanism for disseminating the results of its research and development activities. These results are published by NASA in the NASA STI Report Series, which includes the following report types:

- TECHNICAL PUBLICATION. Reports of completed research or a major significant phase of research that present the results of NASA programs and include extensive data or theoretical analysis. Includes compilations of significant scientific and technical data and information deemed to be of continuing reference value. NASA counterpart of peer-reviewed formal professional papers, but having less stringent limitations on manuscript length and extent of graphic presentations.
- TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM. Scientific and technical findings that are preliminary or of specialized interest, e.g., quick release reports, working papers, and bibliographies that contain minimal annotation. Does not contain extensive analysis.
- CONTRACTOR REPORT. Scientific and technical findings by NASA-sponsored contractors and grantees.

- CONFERENCE PUBLICATION. Collected papers from scientific and technical conferences, symposia, seminars, or other meetings sponsored or co-sponsored by NASA.
- SPECIAL PUBLICATION. Scientific, technical, or historical information from NASA programs, projects, and missions, often concerned with subjects having substantial public interest.
- TECHNICAL TRANSLATION. Englishlanguage translations of foreign scientific and technical material pertinent to NASA's mission.

Specialized services that complement the STI Program Office's diverse offerings include creating custom thesauri, building customized databases, organizing and publishing research results ... even providing videos.

For more information about the NASA STI Program Office, see the following:

- Access the NASA STI Program Home Page at *http://www.sti.nasa.gov*
- E-mail your question via the Internet to help@sti.nasa.gov
- Fax your question to the NASA STI Help Desk at (301) 621-0134
- Telephone the NASA STI Help Desk at (301) 621-0390
- Write to: NASA STI Help Desk NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7121 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320

NASA/CR-2005-213689



Bounding the Spacecraft Atmosphere Design Space for Future Exploration Missions

Kevin E. Lange, Alan T. Perka, Bruce E. Duffield and Frank F. Jeng Jacobs Sverdrup ESC Group Houston, Texas

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Lyndon B. Johnson Space Center Houston, Texas, 77058 Prepared for NASA Johnson Space Center under Contract NNJ05HI05C

Acknowledgments

This study was commissioned by the Advanced Life Support (ALS) Project and conducted within the Systems Integration, Modeling, and Analysis (SIMA) group at NASA Johnson Space Center. The support of Mike Lawson (ALS Manager), Mike Ewert (SIMA Manager), and Dr. Chin Lin (Thermal Systems and Engineering Support Branch Chief) is gratefully acknowledged. The authors also wish to thank all of the reviewers that provided comments and inputs to this study, in particular, Dr. Johnny Conkin, Dr. Michael Pedley, and Dr. Gary Ruff.

Available from:

NASA Center for AeroSpace Information 7121 Standard Drive Hanover, MD 21076-1320 301-621-0390 National Technical Information Service 5285 Port Royal Road Springfield, VA 22161 703-605-6000

This report is also available in electronic form at http://advlifesupport.jsc.nasa.gov.

Table of Contents

1	Intro	duction	1
	1.1	Historical Spacecraft and Space Suit Atmospheres	1
	1.2	Atmosphere Selection Drivers	2
	1.3	Atmosphere Selection Process	3
	1.4	Approach and Assumptions	4
2	Base	line Study	4
	2.1	Respiratory Physiology	4
	2.1.1	Respiration-Related Bounds	6
	2.2	Decompression Sickness Prevention	7
	2.2.1	Final R-Value	8
	2.2.2	Maximum Prebreathe Time	8
	2.2.3	Prebreathe Bound	9
	2.3	Materials Selection	11
	2.3.1	Flammability	11
	2.3.2	Radiation Shielding	14
	2.3.3	Mission Operations	14
	2.3.4	Materials Bound	15
	2.4	Resultant Design Space	15
	2.5	Summarized Results and Conclusions from the Baseline Study	17
3	Exter	nsions to the Baseline Study	18
	3.1	Alternative Respiratory Parameters	18
	3.2	Lowering the Hypoxic Bound	19
	3.3	An Iso-Risk Approach to Prebreathe Bounds for Different Space Suit Pressures	20
	3.4	Space Suit Pressure Design	25
	3.4.1	Variable-Pressure Space Suit	25
	3.4.2	Hyperoxic Space Suit Atmosphere and Radiation	25
4	The l	Next Steps	26
	4.1	Candidate Atmosphere Designs for Further Study	26
	4.2	Engineering Considerations in Spacecraft and Space Suit Atmosphere Design	28
	4.2.1	Cabin Structural Mass	28
	4.2.2	Atmosphere Leakage	29
	4.2.3	Makeup Gas Systems	29
	4.2.4	Thermal Control Systems	29
	4.2.5	Life Support Systems	30
	4.2.6	Reliability Issues	30
	4.2.7	Laboratory Science	30
	4.2.8	Crew Thermal Comfort Zone	31
	4.2.9	Crew Verbal Communication	31
	4.2.1	0 Airlocks for EVA	31
	4.2.1	1 Fire Detection and Suppression	31
	4.2.1	2 Off-gassing	32
	4.2.1	3 Food Packaging and Processing	32
	4.2.1	4 Plant Growth	32
5	Refe	rences	34
6	Appe	endix – Alveolar Gas Equation	39
	6.1	Respiratory Gas Partitioning	39
	6.2	Time-Average Molar Balances	40

	6.3	Resultant Equations	41
7	Abbr	eviations and Acronyms	42
8	List o	of Symbols	42

Tables

Table 1-1.	Historical Spacecraft Cabin and Space Suit Atmospheres	2
Table 2-1.	Respiratory Parameters Assumed in Baseline Study	6
Table 3-1.	Respiratory Parameters from Pickard (2002)	18
Table 3-2.	Calculated DCS Risk for Baseline-Study Cases	21
Table 3-3.	Predicted Dependence of Serious DCS on Oxygen Prebreathe Time	25
Table 4-1.	Candidate Spacecraft and Space Suit Atmosphere Designs	28

Figures

Figure 1-1.	Envisioned atmosphere selection process
Figure 2-1.	Physiological response to atmospheres of different total pressure and oxygen concentration
-	(from Webb (1964); also NASA (1995))
Figure 2-2.	Curves of constant alveolar oxygen partial pressure corresponding to three equivalent
C	altitudes. Results are shown for both "textbook" conditions and typically assumed spacecraft
	conditions (see Table 2-1)
Figure 2-3.	Assumed design bounds based on respiration requirements. Historical spacecraft cabin
	atmosphere conditions are shown for comparison
Figure 2-4.	Curves of constant EVA prebreathe time for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final <i>R</i> -value of 1.3.
	Assumed upper bound on prebreathe time is 60 minutes
Figure 2-5.	Curves of constant EVA prebreathe time for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final <i>R</i> -value of 1.4.
-	Assumed upper bound on prebreathe time is 60 minutes
Figure 2-6.	Curves of constant EVA prebreathe time for a 41.4 kPa space suit with a final <i>R</i> -value of 1.3.
-	Assumed upper bound on prebreathe time is 60 minutes
Figure 2-7.	Curves of constant EVA prebreathe time for a 41.4 kPa space suit with a final <i>R</i> -value of 1.4.
-	Assumed upper bound on prebreathe time is 60 minutes
Figure 2-8.	Influence of polymer hydrogen content and test conditions on the minimum oxygen
-	concentration to sustain combustion
Figure 2-9.	Resultant spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final
-	EVA prebreathe <i>R</i> -value of 1.3
Figure 2-10	. Resultant spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final
	EVA prebreathe <i>R</i> -value of 1.4
Figure 2-11	. Resultant spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for a 41.4 kPa space suit with a final
	EVA prebreathe <i>R</i> -value of 1.3
Figure 2-12	. Resultant spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for a 41.4 kPa space suit with a final
	EVA prebreathe <i>R</i> -value of 1.4
Figure 3-1.	Curves of constant alveolar oxygen partial pressure using respiratory parameters from
	Pickard (2002) (see Table 3-1)
Figure 3-2.	Extended spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space with a 2438-m (8000-ft) equivalent
	hypoxic bound for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final EVA prebreathe R-value of 1.4
Figure 3-3.	Dependence of <i>R</i> value on P(DCS) for different space-suit pressures as predicted from a
	statistical model. For a given P(DCS), the R value increases with space-suit pressure
Figure 3-4.	Predicted incidence of DCS for Shuttle and Orlan space suits from a statistical model based
	on 1-g testing

Figure 3-5.	Curves of constant DCS probability for a 25.9 kPa (3.75 psia) space suit with a 60 minute prebreathe. Calculation based on 4 hr EVA with exercise. No design space exists for this
	space suit pressure within current bounds
Figure 3-6.	Curves of constant DCS probability for a 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) space suit with a 60 minute
	prebreathe. Calculation based on 4 hr EVA with exercise. Resultant design space is shown
	shaded (green)
Figure 3-7.	Curves of constant DCS probability for a 41.4 kPa (6 psia) space suit with a 60 minute
	prebreathe. Calculation based on 4 hr EVA with exercise. Resultant design space is shown
	shaded (green)
Figure 4-1.	Spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for 3 space suit pressures based on a 60 minute
-	prebreathe and P(DCS) of 0.089 for EVAs. Possible candidate atmosphere designs for initial
	study are indicated by number
Figure 6-1.	Respiratory gas exchange

1 Introduction

In the selection of ideal space cabin atmospheres there has arisen a fascinating interaction between human physiology, the gaseous environment, the machine, and the mission. The systems approach, which has been so successful in aiding the selection of ideal hardware, must be brought to bear once again. [Roth (1964)]

The selection of spacecraft and space suit atmospheres for future human space exploration missions will play an important, if not critical, role in the ultimate safety, productivity, and cost of such missions. Internal atmosphere pressure and composition (particularly oxygen concentration) influence many aspects of spacecraft and space suit design, operation, and technology development. Optimal atmosphere solutions must be determined by an iterative process involving research, design, development, testing, and systems analysis. A necessary first step in this process is the establishment of working bounds on the atmosphere design space.

1.1 Historical Spacecraft and Space Suit Atmospheres

The manned flights of the United States and Russia have been both successfully accomplished with diametrically opposed philosophies regarding cabin environments. The Russians have chosen for their flights an oxygen-nitrogen environment of essentially the same composition and pressure as air at sea level. With less of a weight problem than the United States has had, their philosophy has been "Better the devil you know than the one you don't." In Project Mercury, simplicity of control engineering and minimization of weight were considerations which led to selection of 100% oxygen at 5 psi as the cabin atmosphere. [Roth (1964)]

Historical spacecraft cabin and space suit atmospheres are compared in Table 1-1. Also compared are the time and conditions required for prebreathing pure oxygen prior to extravehicular activity (EVA). For the early NASA missions through Apollo, spacecraft operated at a low 34.5 kPa cabin pressure with a 100% oxygen atmosphere. The space suit also operated with a 100% oxygen atmosphere at a lower pressure of 25.8 kPa. Because no inert diluent gas was employed, no prebreathe was required prior to EVA. Skylab introduced a mixed nitrogen/oxygen cabin atmosphere at 70% oxygen. The nitrogen partial pressure for the Skylab missions was not high enough to necessitate a prebreathe for EVA. Although prebreathing was not required for EVA in the early NASA missions, a three-hour oxygen prebreathe was performed prior to launch to prevent decompression sickness on the change from Earth ambient pressure (101.3 kPa) to the on-orbit spacecraft pressure (34.5 kPa) (Nicogossian (1982)). One astronaut later reported that he had experienced decompression sickness symptoms (bends) following launch on each of his two flights (Hawkins (1975)).

More recent NASA spacecraft, as well as Soviet/Russian spacecraft, have used a more Earth-normal cabin atmosphere with a pressure of 101.3 kPa and a nominal oxygen concentration of 21%. The NASA space suit still uses a 100% oxygen atmosphere, but at a somewhat higher pressure of 29.6 kPa. Under these conditions, a pure-oxygen prebreathe of 120-240 minutes is required prior to EVA, depending on the prebreathe protocol. To reduce the prebreathe time, the Space Shuttle is capable of operating at a reduced pressure of 70.3 kPa and an elevated oxygen concentration of nominally 26.5%. Under these conditions, the prebreathe time is reduced to 40 minutes. The Russian Orlan space suit operates at a higher 39.2 kPa pressure, allowing a 30 minute prebreathe from an Earth-normal cabin atmosphere.

Program	Cabin Pressure, kPa (psia)	Cabin Oxygen Concentration, volume %	EVA Suit Pressure, kPa (psia) ^a	EVA Prebreathe Time, min	EVA Prebreathe Conditions
Mercury	34.5 (5)	100	-	-	-
Gemini/Apollo	34.5 (5)	100	25.8 (3.75)	0	-
Skylab	34.5 (5)	70	25.8 (3.75)	0	-
Shuttle	70.3 (10.2)	26.5	29.6 (4.3)	40	In-suit (after 36 hours at 70.3 kPa)
	101.3 (14.7)	21	29.6 (4.3)	240 ^c	In-suit
ISS/US	101.3 (14.7)	21	29.6 (4.3)	120-140	Mask and in- suit; staged w/exercise
				240°	In-suit
Salyut, Mir, ISS/Russian	101.3 (14.7)	21	$40.0(5.8)^{b}$	30	In-suit

Table 1-1.	Historical	Spacecraft	Cabin and	Space	Suit Atmo	spheres
------------	------------	------------	-----------	-------	-----------	---------

^a At 100% oxygen.

^b Can be reduced to 26.5 kPa (3.8 psia) for short-duration work regime.

^c Under emergency conditions, a minimum of 150 minutes of unbroken prebreathe is recommended.

References: Carson (1975), McBarron (1993), Waligora (1993), NASA (2002), NASA (2003).

The use of Earth-normal cabin atmospheres has allowed much more extensive use of non-metallic materials and off-the-shelf items than in the early NASA spacecraft. An Earth-normal cabin atmosphere is also generally preferred for life and microgravity science studies to eliminate extra variables in comparison with ground-based studies.

1.2 Atmosphere Selection Drivers

For future exploration missions, there are many issues that drive spacecraft and space suit atmosphere selection. Some of the important issues are listed below.

Crew Health and Safety Requirements

- Crew Physiology
- Decompression Sickness Prevention
- Emergency EVA Capability
- Rapid Cabin Decompression Response
- Radiation Protection

Materials Requirements

- Materials Flammability
- Materials Off-gassing

Science Requirements

• Microgravity and Partial-Gravity Science/Physiology Studies

Preflight Testing Requirements

- Human
- Equipment

Program Requirements

• Mission Segments and Durations

- EVA Frequency
- Cross-Vehicle Atmosphere Compatibility

Mission, Vehicle, and Space Suit Optimization

- Structure, Equipment, and Consumable Mass
- Thermal Control Power Requirements
- Space Suit Mobility and Glove Dexterity
- System Safety and Reliability
- Crew Time
- Crew Comfort and Performance
- Cost

These issues can be broadly categorized as either requirements related or optimization related. In a simplified sense, requirements-related issues can be considered as defining the atmosphere design space, while optimization-related issues govern the ultimate selection of atmosphere conditions within the design space. In reality, optimization-related issues will influence some requirements, so that the overall atmosphere selection process becomes necessarily iterative in nature.

1.3 Atmosphere Selection Process

A flowchart of the envisioned atmosphere selection process is shown in Figure 1-1. As future exploration missions are defined, requirements will flow down that can be used to bound the spacecraft and space suit atmosphere design space. Initially, such requirements may be preliminary in nature, pending necessary research and further mission definition. From within this "working" design space, candidate atmosphere design values can be chosen and used in more detailed analyses and optimization studies involving all affected systems. If necessary, the design space can be refined based on updated requirements.



Figure 1-1. Envisioned atmosphere selection process.

1.4 Approach and Assumptions

The approach adopted in the current study was to define working bounds on the spacecraft cabin atmosphere pressure and oxygen concentration design space based on an initial assessment of requirements in three areas:

- 1. Respiratory Physiology
- 2. Decompression Sickness Prevention
- 3. Materials Selection

These areas were chosen because of their high-level importance in crew health and safety, and because it was believed that the resulting bounds would provide the greatest restriction on the design space. The focus on these areas is not intended to ignore or diminish the importance of other issues, but simply to provide a narrowed starting point for further studies.

Definitive requirements related to respiratory physiology, decompression sickness prevention, and materials selection have not been established for future exploration missions. An initial assessment of these requirements was made in this study based on current requirements, input from experts, and the authors' judgment. References and rationale for tentative requirements are provided in this report. A critical review of these tentative requirements should be part of any follow-on activity.

The inclusion of decompression sickness prevention as a bounding issue implies significant extravehicular activities (EVAs). The primary focus of this study was on spacecraft involved in surface exploration missions with a high frequency of EVAs. Expansion of the design space for spacecraft with few EVAs is briefly discussed later in this report.

Throughout this study, the space suit internal atmosphere was assumed to be 100% oxygen. Bounds on the space suit pressure were not specifically addressed. Instead, two candidate space suit pressures were chosen for detailed analysis in the baseline study: the current NASA space suit pressure of 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) and a higher space suit pressure of 41.4 kPa (6 psia). The latter pressure is slightly higher than the Russian space suit nominal pressure and has been considered in earlier studies. Issues that must be addressed with increasing space suit pressure include a reduction in glove mobility and a resultant increase in EVA crewmember fatigue. For the spacecraft cabin atmosphere, the diluent gas was assumed to be nitrogen, although alternative inert gases or inert gas mixtures could be considered.

The next section describes the baseline atmosphere study performed during the second and third quarters of fiscal year 2004. This study has been presented in its current form in a number of forums (Lange (2004a, 2004b, 2005). Extensions to the baseline study are presented in Section 3.

2 Baseline Study

This section addresses each of the three selected requirement areas in succession. The resulting bounds are then combined to arrive at several plots of the spacecraft atmosphere design space for different values of the space suit pressure and decompression sickness risk parameter (tissue ratio).

2.1 Respiratory Physiology

Current NASA standards (NASA (1995)) define high-level, physiologically-driven requirements for breathable atmospheres:

- Provide sufficient total pressure to prevent vaporization of body fluids (> 6 kPa (0.9 psia)).
- Provide sufficient oxygen partial pressure for adequate respiration, but not so great as to induce oxygen toxicity.

• For long durations (in excess of two weeks), provide a physiologically inert gas to prevent atelectasis.¹

The impact of the second of these requirements on the atmosphere design space is shown in Figure 2-1. For different combinations of atmosphere total pressure and oxygen concentration, a region of unimpaired performance exists that is bounded by regions of hypoxia (oxygen deficiency) and oxygen toxicity.



Figure 2-1. Physiological response to atmospheres of different total pressure and oxygen concentration (from Webb (1964); also NASA (1995)).

The sea-level equivalent (or normoxic) curve in Figure 2-1 defines atmosphere conditions that provide the same oxygen partial pressure within the alveoli of the lung (the site of oxygen transport to the blood) as exists for a normal sea-level atmosphere. The alveolar oxygen partial pressure is a critical determinant of physiological oxygen sufficiency and differs from the atmosphere oxygen partial pressure because of absorption of oxygen and dilution by water vapor and carbon dioxide within the lung. The relation between these two oxygen partial pressures is described by the Alveolar Gas Equation. A generalized version of this equation that accounts for carbon dioxide in the inspired air is derived in Section 6.

Figure 2-2 shows three pairs of curves generated using the Alveolar Gas Equation, each corresponding to a different alveolar oxygen partial pressure. Each pair includes a solid curve generated assuming "textbook" values for the inspired carbon dioxide partial pressure and respiratory quotient (see Section 6), and a dashed curve generated using values typically assumed in spacecraft life support analysis. An equivalent altitude can be associated with each alveolar oxygen partial pressure as shown in Table 2-1. This table also contains the values assumed for other parameters.²

¹ Absorption atelectasis is the collapse of obstructed alveoli due to complete gas absorption (see West (1990)).

² An inspired-air water partial pressure, p_{IH2O} , of 9.2 mm Hg was assumed for all analyses in this report.



Figure 2-2. Curves of constant alveolar oxygen partial pressure corresponding to three equivalent altitudes. Results are shown for both "textbook" conditions and typically assumed spacecraft conditions (see Table 2-1).

Equivalent Altitude		p_{AO2}	p_{ACO2}	<i>p</i> _{AH2O}	RQ
m	ft	mm Hg	mm Hg	mm Hg	
0	0	104	40	47	0.8 or 0.87
1829	6000	77	34	47	0.8 or 0.87
3658	12000	54	32	47	0.8 or 0.87
$p_{AO2} = alveolar$	r oxygen partial j	oressure	$p_{AH2O} = alveola$	r water partial p	oressure
$p_{ACO2} = alveola$	ar carbon dioxide	e partial	RQ = respirator	ry quotient (resp	oiratory
pressure			exchange ratio))	

Table 2-1. Respiratory Parameters Assumed in Baseline Study

A comparison between the corresponding solid and dashed curves shows a small effect of parameter assumptions that can probably be neglected at this level of analysis. A comparison between the solid curves and the underlying reproduction of Figure 2-1 shows good agreement between the sea-level equivalent curves. Good agreement is also shown between the 1829-m (6000-ft) equivalent curve and the boundary between the unimpaired performance zone and the hypoxic zone. The corresponding alveolar oxygen partial pressure of 77 mm Hg (1829-m equivalent) is reported by Waligora (1991, 1993) to be the minimum partial pressure for which "acclimation can be nearly complete."

2.1.1 Respiration-Related Bounds

Based on these results, the normoxic (sea-level equivalent) curve and the hypoxic boundary (1829-m equivalent) curve generated using textbook parameter values were assumed as bounds on the atmosphere

design space.³ These curves are reproduced in Figure 2-3. Also shown in this figure for comparison are historical spacecraft atmosphere designs. Possible impacts of reduced gravity on human acclimation to sub-normoxic atmospheres should be considered in future refinements of the hypoxic boundary.



Figure 2-3. Assumed design bounds based on respiration requirements. Historical spacecraft cabin atmosphere conditions are shown for comparison.

2.2 Decompression Sickness Prevention

Decompression sickness takes place when the inert gas (generally nitrogen) that normally is dissolved in body tissues at one pressure forms a gas phase ("bubbles") at a lower ambient pressure, when the tissues become supersaturated with nitrogen. [Powell (1993)]

Decompression sickness (DCS) is an important consideration for mixed cabin atmospheres when EVAs are performed in lower-pressure space suits, and when changes in cabin pressure can occur as a result of planned activities and emergencies. DCS is a potentially debilitating and life-threatening condition. Symptoms can include pain ("the bends"), pulmonary manifestations ("the chokes"), skin manifestations, circulatory collapse, and neurological disorders (NASA (1995)). A common approach for preventing or minimizing DCS is to prebreathe pure oxygen prior to depressurization to wash out nitrogen from body tissues.

The occurrence and severity of DCS has been found to correlate to a limited degree with the ratio of the final partial pressure of inert gas in equilibrium with body tissue to the final ambient total pressure. This ratio, R (or TR), is known as the tissue ratio or bends ratio. When the inert gas is nitrogen and the final ambient pressure is the space suit pressure, R can be expressed as follows:

³ Higher than normoxic oxygen concentrations could be included in the design space but were not included because the higher oxygen concentration would increase flammability, while being physiologically unnecessary.

$$R = \frac{p_{\text{N2-Tissue}}}{P_{\text{Suit}}}$$
(2-1)

The incidence of DCS (as well as venous gas emboli) increases with increasing R (see, for example, Horrigan (1993)). In addition to the dependence on R, DCS has been found to depend on the duration at reduced pressure, and the degree of physical activity and ambulation at reduced pressure (Conkin (1996, 2001b)). Test data also suggest that at the same R-value, a higher space suit pressure will result in a lower probability of DCS (Conkin (1996)).

During a pure-oxygen prebreathe, the elimination of nitrogen from body tissue follows an exponential decay curve with a tissue-dependent half-time, $t_{1/2}$, related to the blood perfusion rate, inert gas diffusion rate, and inert gas solubility in the tissue (Conkin (1987)):

$$p_{\text{N2-Tissue}}(t) = p_{\text{N2-Tissue}}(0) \exp\left[-(\ln 2)\frac{t}{t_{1/2}}\right]$$
 (2-2)

In terms of R value,

$$R(t) = R(0) \exp\left[-(\ln 2)\frac{t}{t_{1/2}}\right]$$
(2-3)

The initial nitrogen partial pressure in equilibrium with body tissue prior to prebreathing is most appropriately assumed equal to the alveolar nitrogen partial pressure, p_{AN2} , that exists under the spacecraft cabin atmosphere conditions. In correlating the incidence of DCS against *R*, Conkin and coworkers (1987) have used the atmosphere nitrogen partial pressure instead of p_{AN2} to avoid the added complexity of using the Alveolar Gas Equation for intermediate exposures. These authors have also used a theoretical tissue type with a 360-minute half-time for modeling the dependence of DCS incidence on *R*.

For any given spacecraft cabin atmosphere and space suit pressure, Equation 2-3 can be used to calculate the prebreathe time necessary to achieve a final required *R*-value prior to EVA. In establishing a bound on the atmosphere design space based on DCS prevention, the final required *R*-value and the maximum allowable prebreathe time must be established.

2.2.1 Final R-Value

Current NASA prebreathe protocols for the Space Shuttle and International Space Station (ISS) are based on a final *R*-value of 1.65-1.68 after oxygen prebreathe (see Horrigan (1993) and NASA (2002, 2003)). Actual operational values are frequently lower. For surface-exploration EVAs, DCS risks from mixed cabin atmospheres have not been established, nor has the acceptable level of DCS risk. Higher physical loads imposed by ambulation in partial gravity suggest higher DCS risk than in microgravity. DCS symptoms must also be treated locally without the option for a quick return to Earth. A final *R*-value of 1.3-1.4 (following prebreathe) has been suggested by Conkin (2004) as a reasonable range based on current knowledge.

2.2.2 Maximum Prebreathe Time

Minimization of the prebreathe time is highly desirable in missions with frequent EVAs to maximize crew productivity. A prebreathe period of approximately 20 minutes is expected to be available due to the normal time required for space suit purge and checkout procedures. A longer minimum prebreathe (up to 1 hour) may be required to denitrogenate the brain and spinal cord to guard against serious (Type

II) DCS symptoms (Gernhardt (2004)). A prebreathe time of 1 hour is therefore assumed as a tentative upper bound for surface exploration EVAs.

2.2.3 Prebreathe Bound

Equation 2-3 was used to map curves of constant prebreathe time over the spacecraft cabin atmosphere pressure and oxygen concentration design space. Results are shown in Figures 2-4 through 2-7 for space suit pressures of 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) and 41.4 kPa (6 psia), and for final *R*-values of 1.3 and 1.4. These results were calculated taking $p_{N2-Tissue}(0)$ equal to the cabin atmosphere nitrogen partial pressure, and using a tissue half-time of 360 minutes. Curves are shown for prebreathe times ranging from 0 minutes to 240 minutes. The 60-minute prebreathe curve (shown dashed and bolded) represents the assumed upper bound on prebreathe time. The strong dependence on space suit pressure is evident by comparing Figures 2-4 and 2-5 with Figures 2-6 and 2-7.



Figure 2-4. Curves of constant EVA prebreathe time for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final *R*-value of 1.3. Assumed upper bound on prebreathe time is 60 minutes.



Figure 2-5. Curves of constant EVA prebreathe time for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final *R*-value of 1.4. Assumed upper bound on prebreathe time is 60 minutes.



Figure 2-6. Curves of constant EVA prebreathe time for a 41.4 kPa space suit with a final *R*-value of 1.3. Assumed upper bound on prebreathe time is 60 minutes.



Figure 2-7. Curves of constant EVA prebreathe time for a 41.4 kPa space suit with a final *R*-value of 1.4. Assumed upper bound on prebreathe time is 60 minutes.

2.3 Materials Selection

The selection of materials for use within spacecraft is driven by safety, performance, mass, and cost. Flammability and offgassing are foremost among safety considerations. The flammability of a material is directly affected by spacecraft cabin atmosphere selection. Usage restrictions imposed by flammability requirements can have cascading impacts in areas such as crew radiation protection, structures, and mission operations.

2.3.1 Flammability

Spacecraft fire control is based on minimizing potential ignition sources and "eliminating materials that can propagate fire" — This means controlling quantity and configuration of flammable materials to eliminate potential fire propagation paths and ensure any fire would be small, localized, isolated and would self-extinguish without harm to the crew. [Griffin (2001)]

In the closed environment of a spacecraft or extraterrestrial base, with no avenue for escape, a fire is greatly to be feared. Yet, the experience in human-crew space missions to date has been exemplary. ... The long-duration exposure in flight and on surface bases in extraterrestrial missions will provide greater opportunities for fire risks, with possible occurrences of mechanical and electrical breakdowns, sensor and alarm-system failures, suppressant leakage, material aging, and human errors. Furthermore, the long missions require a greater level of housekeeping and support activities, which add fire dangers in cooking, laundry, and trash accumulation. [Friedman (1998)]

By contrast with human respiration that depends primarily on oxygen partial pressure in the atmosphere, materials flammability depends strongly on oxygen concentration (volume percent) and to a lesser extent on total pressure. Increasing oxygen concentration at constant atmosphere pressure decreases the

minimum ignition energy, increases the flame spread rate, and increases the amount of extinguishant required to put out a fire (NFPA (2004), Beeson (1997)).

Flight hardware on U.S. spacecraft must comply with NASA-STD-6001, "Flammability, Odor, Offgassing, and Compatibility Requirements and Test Procedures for Materials in Environments that Support Combustion" (NASA (1998)). For nonmetallic solids, the primary flammability test is Test 1, Upward Flame Propagation. This test evaluates whether a material is self-extinguishing under expected worst-case-usage conditions of pressure, temperature, oxygen concentration, and thickness. A 12-in.-long (30-cm-long) sample of the material is mounted vertically in a test chamber and ignited chemically at the bottom in a quiescent atmosphere environment. A material passes if for at least three samples the vertical burn length for all samples is less than 6 in. (15 cm) and the material does not propagate a flame by generating burning debris sufficient to ignite a sheet of paper mounted 8 in. (20 cm) below the sample holder. For materials that fail Test 1 and that remain candidates for use, NASA-STD-6001 requires a system flammability evaluation. In general, flammable materials of limited size and quantity can be used by isolating the articles from ignition sources and by eliminating or restricting fire propagation paths (Friedman (1999), Griffin (2001)). Approaches include enclosing flammable articles in nonflammable containers and covering them with nonflammable materials or coatings.

Although NASA-STD-6001 Test 1 is performed with an initially quiescent surrounding atmosphere, the strong buoyancy-induced gas flow that occurs in Earth-normal gravity assists upward flame propagation by supplying oxygen to the flame zone, removing combustion products, and heating the unburned sample. Results of this test have been generally considered conservative for assessing material flammability in microgravity, although the degree of conservatism is dependent on the material and on the degree of forced ventilation flow ((Friedman (1999), Hirsch (2000)). Studies with thin-paper fuels have shown that both higher flame-spread rates and sustained combustion at lower oxygen concentrations can be obtained at moderate air velocities below that of normal-gravity-induced buoyant flows (Olson (1991), Friedman (1989)). Partial gravity conditions characteristic of the Lunar or Mars surface may therefore in some cases represent a more severe flammability environment than either normal gravity or quiescent microgravity (Friedman (1998)). Additional research in this area is needed.

The pass/fail logic of NASA-STD-6001 Test 1 does not provide a measure of how far a material is removed from combustion threshold conditions and does not allow "a precise quantitative comparison" with other ground or microgravity flammability test results (Hirsch (2001, 2002)). The use of existing Test 1 results for evaluating the flammability limits of materials over a range of atmosphere oxygen concentration is thus limited. Hirsch and Beeson (Hirsch (2001, 2002)) have proposed an extension of Test 1 with a sequential test logic to determine a material's self-extinguishment limits.

A commonly reported measure of flammability limits for polymeric materials is based on ASTM D 2863, Standard Test Method for Measuring the Minimum Oxygen Concentration to Support Candle-Like Combustion of Plastics (Oxygen Index) (ASTM (1997)). The oxygen index⁴ defined according to ASTM D 2863 is the minimum oxygen concentration that sustains combustion of a vertically supported sample ignited at the top. A countercurrent upward air velocity of approximately 4 cm/s is maintained. The downward flame propagation conditions of this test are generally considered less severe than those of upward flame propagation and not conservative for assessment of microgravity flammability (Friedman (1999)). The European Space Agency (ESA) originally included the oxygen index test as part of its flammability testing requirements (ESA (1992)), but provided an acceptance criterion that the oxygen index be at least 10 percentage points higher than the oxygen concentration in the worst-case atmosphere. More recently, ESA has replaced the oxygen index test with an upward flame propagation test for determining flammability limits based on an RKK/Energia test method (ECSS (1999)).

⁴ Also called the limiting oxygen index (LOI) or critical oxygen index.

Figure 2-8 compares literature data for the minimum oxygen concentration to sustain combustion of polymeric materials as a function of the polymer hydrogen content. The significance of polymer hydrogen content will be discussed shortly. The data include standard (downward flame propagation) oxygen index values obtained from handbooks, product literature, and Orndoff (1995), as well as more limited test results for upward flame propagation conditions. The upward flame propagation results were obtained from Ikeda (1983), Hirsch (2001), and Hirsch (2003).⁵ Where identifiable from the data source, polymer formulations containing flame retardants or fillers were excluded in order to accurately determine the hydrogen content and to reflect the flammability characteristics of the base material. A horizontal line at 30% oxygen indicates the current NASA maximum testing limit for general material use inside spacecraft habitable (cabin) areas.



Figure 2-8. Influence of polymer hydrogen content and test conditions on the minimum oxygen concentration to sustain combustion.

The influence of different gas flow and atmosphere pressure conditions in the upward flame propagation tests are shown in Figure 2-8 to be small compared to the influence of flame propagation direction. General trends of the two propagation-direction groups are suggested by the two sets of dashed lines. As discussed above, upward flame propagation is generally more severe and allows combustion to be sustained to lower oxygen concentration. The difference in results between upward flame propagation and downward flame propagation appears to generally increase with decreasing polymer hydrogen content. For polyethylene (14.4 wt% hydrogen), the minimum oxygen concentration to sustain combustion changes by less than 1 percentage point with flame propagation direction, whereas it changes by roughly 50 percentage points for polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE, 0 wt% hydrogen). A similar trend with polymer heat of combustion may explain this behavior. Hirsch and coworkers (2003) noted that for polymers with a high heat of combustion (e.g., polyethylene) the minimum oxygen concentration to sustain combustion is less influenced by propagation direction or sample preheating than for polymers

⁵ Corresponding standard (downward flame propagation) oxygen index values were also determined in these studies. These values were included in the Standard ASTM D 2863 data set.

with a low heat of combustion (e.g., PTFE). They suggested that enhanced heat feedback could have a greater effect on polymers with a lower heat of combustion.

The results in Figure 2-8 indicate that many non-metallic polymeric materials are flammable even at an Earth-normal oxygen concentration of 21% and that the number of available self-extinguishing materials falls off rapidly as the oxygen concentration is increased. Polymeric materials suitable for unrestricted use in substantially enriched oxygen atmospheres are generally very low in hydrogen content.

2.3.2 Radiation Shielding

Research in deep-space ionizing radiation has found that metals are much poorer than hydrogencontaining materials in shielding the crew from high-energy particles associated with Solar Particle Events (SPE) and Galactic Cosmic Radiation (GCR):

Aluminum has been found to be a poor shield material when dose equivalent is used with exposure limits for low Earth orbit (LEO) as a guide for shield requirements. Because the radiation issues are cost related—the parasitic shield mass has high launch costs—the use of aluminum as a basic construction material is clearly not cost-effective and alternate materials need to be developed. [Wilson (1997)]

Shielding against the radiation environment involves the entire spacecraft, meaning that apparently simple design choices (e.g., aluminum structures as opposed to polymer composites) can have adverse effects on radiation exposures. Shielding during every aspect of the mission is necessary to ensure crew safety, health, and performance. [Allen (2003)]

The above statements emphasize that crew radiation protection is affected by materials selection throughout the spacecraft. Stored hydrogen (H_2) and hydrogen-containing materials, such as water and organic polymers, have been considered for use in optimizing spacecraft radiation shielding effectiveness. Polymers and polymer composites offer the potential of providing both structural and shielding functions at reduced mass compared to metals. Research is being conducted on the development of multifunctional structural elements containing high concentrations of polyolefins, such as polyethylene (Wilson (2003, 2004)). The use of polymer composite materials to reduce structural mass has been previously assumed in some NASA exploration mission design studies (Drake (1998)).

2.3.3 Mission Operations

Longer mission duration drives reuse and recycling of materials in order to reduce consumable and expendable supplies that must be launched and wastes that must be stored. As noted earlier in the quote from Friedman (1998), long missions will require greater housekeeping and support activities, including cooking, laundry, and trash management. Regular maintenance operations on equipment and spacesuits, such as cleaning and part replacement, will be necessary. The capability for local part fabrication may also be required.

With increasing mission duration, advanced life support systems will be driven to higher closure of the human support loop by including food production and waste recycling systems. Even for nearer-term missions, drying processes are being considered to recover water from solid wastes, and high-temperature processes are being considered to decompose wastes for microbial stabilization and volume reduction. These operations will inevitably involve increased handling and processing of materials that could include potentially flammable items such as clothing, towels, food packaging, plant biomass, paper, and used filters.⁶

⁶ Cellulose, a primary constituent of cotton and paper, has a hydrogen content of 6.2 wt% and a reported oxygen index of 18-21% without added flame retardants.

2.3.4 Materials Bound

For longer duration space missions outside of Earth orbit, material usage is expected to differ from current practice by increased use of polymeric materials to optimize radiation shielding and reduce structural mass, and by increased handling and processing of consumable and expendable items for reuse, resource recovery, stabilization, or volume reduction. Based on the flammability results in Figure 2-8, these considerations would suggest a cabin oxygen concentration of Earth-normal (21%) or lower. Indeed, oxygen concentrations below Earth-normal have been proposed to reduce flammability hazards (Shvartz (1990)). The use of flame retardants, fillers, nonflammable coatings, and other configuration controls will extend the usage range of polymeric materials containing significant hydrogen content, but it seems unlikely to the authors that this will exceed the current 30% oxygen limit. A tentative upper bound on spacecraft cabin oxygen concentration of 30% is assumed based on the above considerations and the extensive experience in materials selection and fire prevention at this condition from the Space Shuttle Program.

2.4 Resultant Design Space

The resultant design space obtained by imposing the proposed respiratory-related, prebreathe, and materials bounds is shown in Figures 2-9 through 2-12 for the two space suit pressures and two final *R*-values. The results show a very small design space for the 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) space suit pressure, with an expanded design space for the 41.4 kPa (6 psia) space suit pressure. The Earth-normal cabin atmosphere currently used on the Space Shuttle and ISS is not included in any of the design spaces.



Figure 2-9. Resultant spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final EVA prebreathe *R*-value of 1.3.



Figure 2-10. Resultant spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final EVA prebreathe *R*-value of 1.4.



Figure 2-11. Resultant spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for a 41.4 kPa space suit with a final EVA prebreathe *R*-value of 1.3.



Figure 2-12. Resultant spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for a 41.4 kPa space suit with a final EVA prebreathe *R*-value of 1.4.

2.5 Summarized Results and Conclusions from the Baseline Study

The baseline study has defined narrowed cabin atmosphere design spaces that can be used as starting points for more detailed studies. For the current 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) space suit pressure, a small cabin atmosphere design space is found that exceeds the Space Shuttle pre-EVA nominal oxygen concentration of 26.5% and may require recertification of materials above 30% depending on control ranges. A lower cabin oxygen concentration can be achieved by one or more of the following approaches:

- Increasing the space suit pressure.
- Accepting a higher final *R*-value and the associated DCS risk.
- Accepting a longer prebreathe time.
- Allowing a more hypoxic atmosphere.

Any increase in space suit pressure must consider impacts on space suit mass and mobility.

For the higher 41.4 kPa (6 psia) space suit pressure, an expanded design space is found that includes atmosphere oxygen concentrations near 21%, but at lower than sea-level pressures. Such atmospheres would have higher-altitude analogs on Earth that might facilitate spacecraft development and certification testing.

For transit vehicles with few EVAs, a longer prebreathe time may be acceptable that would allow expansion of the design space to include an Earth-normal atmosphere. This would include vehicles that dock with the International Space Station, where inclusion of the Earth-normal ISS atmosphere in the design space will likely be required to avoid airlock operations during crew transfer. Changes in exploration mission design philosophy that would require a much lower frequency of surface EVAs, perhaps in conjunction with greater robotic capabilities, might also allow a longer prebreathe time.

Research is needed to fully define requirements and to assess detailed impacts of cabin and space suit atmosphere selection. The impacts of other atmosphere constituents, such as carbon dioxide and trace contaminants, should also be considered.

3 Extensions to the Baseline Study

This section presents several extensions to the baseline study. These extensions address sensitivity of the results to assumptions and suggest areas where the design space may be expanded or better defined. The topics discussed are also candidates for additional research.

3.1 Alternative Respiratory Parameters

Following completion of the baseline study, a reference was found (Pickard (2002)) that provides alternative respiratory parameters for a range of equivalent altitudes. In particular, Pickard reports higher values than previously assumed for the alveolar carbon dioxide partial pressure at higher altitudes, and reports values of the respiratory quotient that increase with altitude. These parameters are shown in Table 3-1. Using Pickard's parameters, curves of constant alveolar oxygen partial pressure were generated for the same three equivalent altitudes as in Figure 2-2. The results are shown in Figure 3-1.

Equivaler	nt Altitude	<i>p</i> _{AO2}	p_{ACO2}	<i>p</i> _{AH2O}	RQ
m	ft	mm Hg	mm Hg	mm Hg	
0	0	103	40	47	0.85
1829	6000	76.8	37	47	0.87
2438	8000	68.9	36	47	0.87
3658	12000	54.3	33.8	47	0.9

 Table 3-1. Respiratory Parameters from Pickard (2002)

A comparison with Figure 2-2 shows that, using Pickard's values, the normoxic curve is slightly lower at moderately elevated oxygen concentrations, whereas there is little net effect on the hypoxic boundary. These differences do not significantly affect the conclusions from the baseline study.



Figure 3-1. Curves of constant alveolar oxygen partial pressure using respiratory parameters from Pickard (2002) (see Table 3-1).

3.2 Lowering the Hypoxic Bound

The alveolar oxygen partial pressure assumed for the hypoxic boundary is based on the limit for nearly complete acclimation reported by Waligora (1991, 1993) and appears to agree with the graphical boundary of the unimpaired performance zone shown in Figure 2-1. This partial pressure is equivalent to that which exists at an altitude of 1829 m (6000 ft). Nevertheless, approximately 130 million people (2.3 % of the Earth's population) live at altitudes of 2000-2500 m (6560-8200 ft) (Cohen (1998)). An indication that higher equivalent altitudes are acceptable in spacecraft, at least for short durations, is also reflected by a recent Space Shuttle flight rule update (NASA (2004)) that directs the crew not to don QDM (Quick Don Mask) during unplanned pressure reduction if breathing air equivalent to a 2438-m (8000-ft) altitude can be maintained.

The impact of lowering the hypoxic bound to a 2438-m (8000-ft) equivalent altitude is shown in Figure 3-2 for a 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) space suit with a final *R*-value of 1.4. The alveolar oxygen isopleths were generated using the parameters in Table 3-1. An extended design space is obtained that includes somewhat lower oxygen concentrations and total pressures.⁷ Although this extension is not large, the lower oxygen concentrations may allow an upper control bound of 30% oxygen or less and thus allow use of Shuttle-certified materials. Even if the 2438-m equivalent alveolar oxygen partial pressure is not considered for nominal conditions, it may be considered in defining the atmosphere control range.

⁷ The minimum oxygen concentration is about 1.7 % lower (absolute) than with the 1829-m (6000-ft) equivalent hypoxic bound.



Figure 3-2. Extended spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space with a 2438-m (8000-ft) equivalent hypoxic bound for a 29.6 kPa space suit with a final EVA prebreathe *R*-value of 1.4.

3.3 An Iso-Risk Approach to Prebreathe Bounds for Different Space Suit Pressures

It was noted in Section 2.2 that for the same R value a higher final pressure (space-suit pressure) results in a lower probability of DCS according to test data. The baseline-study comparisons between 29.6 kPa and 41.4 kPa space suits at comparable R values are therefore not expected to represent comparable DCS risk. In this section, a statistical model of Conkin and coworkers (Conkin (1996)) is used to compare 60 minute prebreathe bounds and the resultant design space for different space suit pressures at the same calculated DCS risk, and to investigate how the design space expands or contracts as the acceptable risk level increases or decreases. A second statistical model (Conkin (2001a)) is used to investigate the influence of prebreathe time on the probability of serious (Type II) DCS. These models were derived from groundbased (1-g) tests that considered, among other variables, the influence of the time of exposure to reduced pressure and the presence or absence of exercise during exposure to reduced pressure.

Table 3-2 compares the probability of DCS, P(DCS), calculated from the model of Conkin and coworkers for the space-suit and *R*-value conditions considered in the baseline study. At comparable *R* value, the model predicts lower DCS risk for the higher space-suit pressure. Similar risk levels (P(DCS) ~ 0.05) are predicted for the 29.6 kPa space suit with an *R* value of 1.3 and the 41.4 kPa space suit with an *R* value of 1.4. *R* values for other levels of DCS risk can be determined from the graphs in Figure 3-3. These graphs include predictions for the 29.6 kPa and 41.4 kPa space suits, as well as the Apollo-era 25.9 kPa space suit. The predictions are based on 4 hours of exposure to reduced pressure (4 hr EVA) with exercise. The highest P(DCS) considered in the baseline study is 0.089 (8.9%), and corresponds to the 29.6 kPa space suit with an *R* value of 1.4. The increase in allowable *R* value with increase in space suit pressure is also supported by biophysical bubble growth models (Conkin (1996), Gernhardt (1991)).

EVA Suit Pressure,	R (360) ^a	P(DCS) ^b
kPa (psia)		
29.6 (4.3)	1.30	0.050
29.6 (4.3)	1.40	0.089
41.4 (6.0)	1.30	0.025
41.4 (6.0)	1.40	0.049

Table 3-2. Calculated DCS Risk for Baseline-Study Cases

 ${}^{a}R$ value for a tissue compartment with a 360 minute half-time for nitrogen elimination.

^bBased on a 4 hr EVA with exercise.

In assessing the acceptable level of DCS risk for surface exploration EVAs, it is relevant to consider the predicted and actual incidence of DCS for microgravity EVAs from mixed cabin atmospheres using the 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) Shuttle EMU space suit and the 40.0 kPa (5.8 psia) Russian Orlan space suit. Figure 3-4 indicates the general ranges of P(DCS) predicted using the statistical model for typical "as-flown" R values with the Shuttle and Orlan space suits (R = 1.59 and 1.85, respectively). These ranges are bounded by model predictions assuming either exercise or no exercise during the EVA. The statistical model predicts a high incidence of DCS: 16-33% for the Shuttle suit and 27-49% for the Orlan suit. Shirt-sleeve ground testing of the specific as-designed Shuttle and Orlan prebreathe protocols (R = 1.65 and 1.89, respectively) results in a similar DCS incidence of 20-25%, whereas no case of DCS has been reported with either suit in microgravity EVAs on-orbit (Conkin (2001c)).



Figure 3-3. Dependence of R value on P(DCS) for different space-suit pressures as predicted from a statistical model. For a given P(DCS), the R value increases with space-suit pressure.



Figure 3-4. Predicted incidence of DCS for Shuttle and Orlan space suits from a statistical model based on 1-g testing.

The profound difference in reported DCS between ground testing and microgravity EVAs is not well understood. Potential contributing factors are listed below (Conkin (2001a, 2001c)):

- More efficient prebreathe due to exercise.
- Changes in the distribution of body fluids in microgravity that may influence the efficiency of denitrogenation or the likelihood of bubble formation in tissue and blood.
- Loss of micronuclei for bubble formation over extended exposure to microgravity.
- Lower body inactivity before and during exposure to reduced pressure (adynamia).
- Differences between EVA exercise and exercise performed during ground testing.
- Failure to notice minor DCS symptoms in space suits.

For surface exploration EVAs in partial gravity, will the incidence of DCS more closely resemble that in microgravity EVAs or in ground testing? If the incidence is closer to that in ground testing, then the maximum P(DCS) of 0.089 (8.9%) assumed in the baseline study would seem too high for a mission where a quick return to Earth is not possible. If the DCS incidence is closer to that in microgravity EVAs, then the assumed maximum P(DCS) may be too conservative. Additional research is needed to better define DCS risks and to establish and validate prebreathe protocols for surface exploration EVAs.

In Figures 3-5 through 3-7, the statistical model of Conkin and coworkers is used to generate curves of constant P(DCS) for space suit pressures of 25.9, 29.6, and 41.4 kPa. Each curve corresponds to a 60 minute prebreathe, and is based on a 4 hr EVA with exercise. The curve corresponding to the maximum P(DCS) assumed in the baseline study (P(DCS) = 0.089) is shown bolded and is used to define the resultant cabin atmosphere design space in Figures 3-6 and 3-7. This results in an expansion of the design space for the 41.4 kPa space suit relative to that in Figure 2-12. No design space exists for the 25.9 kPa

space suit (Figure 3-5) with the currently defined bounds. The curves of constant P(DCS) provide an indication of the sensitivity of the atmosphere design space to the acceptable level of DCS risk.

As a final topic in this section, a second statistical model of Conkin (2001a) provides insight into the benefits of a minimum oxygen prebreathe on the prevention of serious (Type II) DCS. Serious DCS includes pulmonary, neurological, and cardiovascular disturbances that would end a test early for a subject (Conkin (2001a)). The incidence of serious DCS was found to correlate best with an *R* value based on a tissue compartment with a 180 minute half-time for nitrogen elimination (R(180)). Predictions of the model for various prebreathe times are shown in Table 3-3 for a 4 hr EVA with exercise in a 29.6 kPa space suit. Although each prebreathe results in the same value of R(360) (starting from different atmospheres), the value of R(180) decreases with prebreathe time, resulting in a significant reduction in P(serious DCS). The impact of a minimum oxygen prebreathe on tissues with a faster half time (which may include the brain and spinal cord) would be even greater. These results provide rationale for the 60 minute prebreathe assumed in this study.



Figure 3-5. Curves of constant DCS probability for a 25.9 kPa (3.75 psia) space suit with a 60 minute prebreathe. Calculation based on 4 hr EVA with exercise. No design space exists for this space suit pressure within current bounds.



Figure 3-6. Curves of constant DCS probability for a 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) space suit with a 60 minute prebreathe. Calculation based on 4 hr EVA with exercise. Resultant design space is shown shaded (green).



Figure 3-7. Curves of constant DCS probability for a 41.4 kPa (6 psia) space suit with a 60 minute prebreathe. Calculation based on 4 hr EVA with exercise. Resultant design space is shown shaded (green).

Prebreathe Time, min	R (360) ^a	R (180) ^b	P (serious DCS) ^c
0	1.40	1.40	0.0046
30	1.40	1.32	0.0036
60	1.40	1.25	0.0028
90	1.40	1.18	0.0022
120	1.40	1.11	0.0017
150	1.40	1.05	0.0013
180	1.40	0.99	0.0010
210	1.40	0.93	0.0008
240	1.40	0.88	0.0006

Table 3-3. Predicted Dependence of Serious DCS on Oxygen Prebreathe Time

^aR value for a tissue compartment with a 360 minute half-time for nitrogen elimination. ^bR value for a tissue compartment with a 180 minute half-time for nitrogen elimination.

^cBased on a 4 hr EVA with exercise in a 29.6 kPa (4.3 psia) space suit.

3.4 Space Suit Pressure Design

It has been shown above that increasing the space suit pressure increases the cabin atmosphere design space and allows a lower cabin oxygen concentration. The primary penalty for increasing the space suit pressure with current technology is a reduction in space suit mobility, particularly in the gloves. A reduction in space suit mobility can result in increased astronaut fatigue during EVAs and reduced mission productivity. Suit and consumable mass penalties with increasing space suit pressure may also be significant.

3.4.1 Variable-Pressure Space Suit

One possible design solution that has been considered is a variable-pressure space suit. A variablepressure space suit would allow initial operation at a higher pressure to reduce the probability of DCS and to effectively extend the oxygen prebreathe time, while allowing the EVA astronaut to perform useful work that does not require high glove mobility (e.g., transiting to an exploration site). For tasks that require increased glove mobility, the suit pressure could be reduced, either for short periods or for the remainder of the EVA. As indicated in the previous section, the incidence of DCS depends on the time of exposure to a decompression stress. A significant potential advantage of a variable-pressure space suit would be the ability to increase the pressure immediately in response to DCS symptoms, thus providing a measure of in-situ hyperbaric treatment. Potentially significant disadvantages of a variable-pressure space suit include increased space suit complexity and mass, and reduced reliability. As noted in Table 1-1, the Russian Orlan space suit allows operation at two pressures: 40.0 kPa (5.8 psia) and 26.5 kPa (3.8 psia).

3.4.2 Hyperoxic Space Suit Atmosphere and Radiation

The tension of oxygen in cells at the time of radiation is an important determinant of the degree of severity of radiation damage, as in the presence of oxygen, the amount of oxidizing radicals increases, due to the fact that the oxygen molecule is a reaction partner for the primary radiolytic products. Oxygen always enhances the action of radiation. [Baumstark-Khan (2001)]

One space suit design issue that may be significant, but that the authors have not seen discussed, is the potential impact of a hyperoxic (higher than normoxic) space suit atmosphere in combination with the

increased radiation environment outside of the Earth's geomagnetic field. As stated in the above reference, oxygen at the cellular level is known to increase indirect radiation damage caused by the production of free radicals. The relation between the space suit oxygen pressure, cellular oxygen levels, and radiation exposure risks during EVAs appears to be an area for investigation and resolution. If significant, this issue could weigh strongly against the use of a higher space suit pressure.

4 The Next Steps

Conclusions from the baseline study that were presented in Section 2.5 are not substantially altered by the extensions discussed in Section 3. The extensions do further emphasize, however, the need for expert consensus and research to better quantify spacecraft and space suit atmosphere requirement drivers. The continuing role of research as part of the envisioned atmosphere selection process is indicated in Figure 1-1. Risk statements and associated research questions contained in the NASA Bioastronautics Roadmap (NASA, 2005) motivate much of the necessary research.

After defining working bounds on the spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space, the next step envisioned in Figure 1-1 is the selection of candidate atmosphere designs for more detailed studies. Some candidates for spacecraft and space suit atmosphere designs are presented in Section 4.1.

The final step of Figure 1-1 involves more detailed risk and optimization studies and requires an assessment of the impacts of atmosphere pressure and composition on spacecraft and space suit systems and operations. Many of these impacts have been previously investigated and discussed in both published and unpublished studies. A brief summary of engineering considerations derived from these studies is presented in Section 4.2. These studies complement the results presented here and form the basis for further detailed mission-system design studies.

4.1 Candidate Atmosphere Designs for Further Study

Figure 4-1 provides an expanded view of the spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for three space suit pressures ranging from 29.6-41.4 kPa (4.3-6.0 psia). The 60-minute prebreathe bound for each space suit pressure was calculated for an iso-risk DCS probability of 0.089 using the statistical model of Conkin and coworkers (1996). The design space for each space suit pressure includes all of the shaded area below its corresponding prebreathe bound.



Figure 4-1. Spacecraft cabin atmosphere design space for 3 space suit pressures based on a 60 minute prebreathe and P(DCS) of 0.089 for EVAs. Possible candidate atmosphere designs for initial study are indicated by number.

Six possible candidate atmosphere designs for initial study are indicated by number in Figure 4-1. Characteristics of these designs are presented in Table 4-1. The proposed designs emphasize minimizing the cabin oxygen concentration, and cover the range of space suit pressure from the current design (Designs 1 and 2) to a higher-pressure design (Designs 4 and 5) that results in an Earth-normal cabin oxygen concentration. Many other candidate designs are of course possible.

Design	Cabin	Cabin Oxygen	EVA Suit	General Characteristics
No.	Pressure, kPa	Concentration,	Pressure, kPa	
	(psia)	volume %	(psia)	
1	65 (9.4)	28.5	29.6 (4.3)	Current space suit pressure. Cabin
				atmosphere well above hypoxic
				boundary, but less than normoxic.
				May allow use of materials certified
				to 30% oxygen with tight spacecraft
				operating control bands.
2	64 (9.3)	26.8	29.6 (4.3)	Lowest cabin oxygen concentration
				with current space suit pressure; at
				hypoxic boundary.
3	73 (10.6)	23.2	34.5 (5.0)	Moderate increase in space suit
				pressure with lower cabin oxygen
				concentration; at hypoxic boundary.
4	80 (11.6)	21	41.4 (6.0)	Higher space suit pressure with Earth-
				normal cabin oxygen concentration;
				equivalent to 1829-m (6000-ft) Earth
				atmosphere. Lower DCS risk.
				Ground testing may be facilitated.
5	88.5 (12.8)	21	41.4 (6.0)	Higher space suit pressure with Earth-
				normal cabin oxygen concentration;
				well above hypoxic boundary.
	01.0 (10.0)	22.1	11.1.4.6.0	Ground testing may be facilitated.
6	91.0 (13.2)	23.1	41.4 (6.0)	Higher space suit pressure. Normoxic
				cabin atmosphere; slightly elevated
				oxygen concentration.

Table 4-1. Candidate Spacecraft and Space Suit Atmosphere Designs

4.2 Engineering Considerations in Spacecraft and Space Suit Atmosphere Design

The topic of spacecraft and space suit internal atmosphere design has been examined numerous times since the beginning of the human spaceflight program. In addition to the physiological and key materials areas examined above, many other engineering factors must be considered before a final atmosphere design can be selected. The following sections highlight some of the most important of these considerations, and summarize the conclusions from roughly four decades of research and analysis. The reader is encouraged to examine the many references in Section 5 for more detailed information.

4.2.1 Cabin Structural Mass

Key drivers for structural mass of the cabin are thickness required for containing internal pressure, structural integrity to withstand launch and re-entry loads, radiation shielding, and meteoroid protection. Which factor ultimately dominates is necessarily mission (or spacecraft) specific. Roth (1967, 1968) concluded that at cabin pressures below about 34.5-48.3 kPa (5-7 psia), launch loads and meteoroid protection determine the minimum wall thickness, whereas at higher pressures (48.3-101.3 kPa (7-14.7 psia)) it is the wall stresses due to internal pressure that set the required thickness.

Brown (1991) reported that for a lunar habitat launch loads dominate over internal pressure up to 101.3 kPa (14.7 psia), and that additional thickness beyond that required for launch loads would be required for

micrometeoroid protection. They also note that the internal pressure may contribute to structural stiffening, which may help to reduce required mass.

NASA (1992) reported that for a lunar vehicle design, launch loads were the most significant driver of the structure, over internal pressure and micrometeoroid protection. They also note that internal pressure was not a major weight or cost driver for the Apollo command module structure, and that the Space Station Freedom habitat structural design was similarly driven by launch loads. Their overall conclusion was that "total weight impacts due to changing the cabin pressure for the crew module should not be a driving consideration in selecting the crew module cabin pressure."

Radiation shielding was also discussed in Section 2.3.2.

4.2.2 Atmosphere Leakage

There are two classes of leakage to consider: the relatively fast leakage caused by a wall penetration with a large diameter relative to the wall thickness (orifice-type flow), and the inevitable slow leakage around fittings and seals (capillary type flow). Leakage of both types increases as cabin pressure increases, but the leakage rates vary differently with atmosphere composition.

For rapid decompression from 34.5-48.3 kPa (5-7 psia) due to orifice-type flow, Roth (1967) calculated that an O_2/N_2 mixture would take the longest time to decompress to a minimum tolerable O_2 partial pressure, while pure O_2 would reach the minimum tolerable partial pressure most quickly. When comparing N_2 and helium (He) at equivalent compositions and pressures, N_2 had a slight overall advantage as a diluent in rapid decompression.

For slow seal leakage, atmosphere composition was calculated to have little effect on mass loss when comparing pure O_2 and O_2 with helium, neon and nitrogen diluents at 34.5-48.3 kPa (5-7 psia) (Roth (1967)). Douglas (1966), however, presented leakage data that indicated the total seal leakage loss by weight of O_2/N_2 is greater than that of O_2/He , with the difference increasing as cabin pressure increases. Loss of oxygen was higher for the O_2/He mixture, however.

Back diffusion of CO₂ through leakage paths for a Mars habitat (Mars atmosphere is 95% CO₂, at 0.76 kPa) was examined by Jeng (2003), and it was found that the back diffusion of CO₂ is negligible compared to the outward leakage rate at a cabin pressure of 62.1 kPa (9 psia).

4.2.3 Makeup Gas Systems

As noted above, higher cabin pressure increases seal leakage and therefore required makeup gas regardless of composition. Of the composition options, using helium as a diluent results in the lowest mass of re-supply gas (Douglas (1966)); however seal leakage is also highest with helium, and the two effects may offset each other (Brown (1991)). In general, lower pressures reduce the air mass required for initial pressurization, repressurization, and resupply (McCarthy (1991)).

4.2.4 Thermal Control Systems

Atmosphere pressure affects thermal control systems through its impact on duct size and heat transfer capacity. For equivalent heat transfer with the crew and heat-generating equipment, the same mass flow rate of atmosphere will be required regardless of pressure. Thus, at lower cabin pressure the required volumetric flow rate is higher. The result is increased fan power or larger ducts or a combination of both.

Although the lower pressure means lower leakage rates and lower initial weight of cabin gas, NASA (1992) concluded that the weight penalty associated with the increased fan power (at constant duct size) is the dominant factor. Paul (2004) conducted a study in which Transhab- and X-38-type fan/duct systems were analyzed at pressures from 101.3 kPa (14.7 psia) to 55.2 kPa (8.0 psia). It was concluded that there is a slight advantage in equivalent system mass for increasing duct size versus increasing fan speed to

arrive at the same mass flow rate. Paul also used computational fluid dynamics modeling to predict the air-to-cabin-wall heat transfer coefficient and average wall temperature at reduced pressures. It was found that at constant linear velocity the heat transfer coefficient decreases approximately 2.5% for each 6.9 kPa (1 psi) decrease in operating pressure, resulting in a decrease of approximately 0.04 K/kPa (0.5 °F/psi) in cabin wall temperature.

Lin (1991) concluded that the power penalty to the air cooling subsystem due to reduced pressure puts a practical minimum on cabin pressure of around 50.7 kPa (7.35 psia). It was also noted that at lower pressures, condensing heat exchangers tend to over-condense the humidity or under-cool the dry air to remove the same sensible heat, thus extra equipment may be required to re-humidify or further cool the air for crew comfort.

Roth (1967) found that O_2 /He mixtures at reduced pressures had the lowest total thermal control system power compared to O_2 and O_2/N_2 atmospheres. Incorporated into the overall environmental control and life support system, O_2 /He had the best equivalent mass, followed by pure O_2 , and finally O_2/N_2 . For the system Roth studied, however, the overall differences were only about 3% of the total system weight.

4.2.5 Life Support Systems

Lin (1991) surveyed the impacts of cabin pressure on physicochemical life support system components. He concluded that CO_2 reduction and removal systems and trace contaminant control systems, while currently designed and tested assuming 101.3 kPa (14.7 psia) pressure, should be able to operate at reduced pressures with little or no modification. Pressure has a small impact on oxygen generation rates because as the pressure is lowered the leak rate decreases but the concentration of oxygen in the leaking atmosphere is greater. This effect is small compared to the crew's overall metabolic usage. Nitrogen make-up decreases as pressure decreases, thus the size of this system decreases with cabin pressure.

For aerobic biological waste processing systems that have been developed and tested using air, modifications may be required if they are to run on a cabin atmosphere with a different oxygen concentration (Paul (2005)). Alternatively, if they must be run on a 21% oxygen feed, a dedicated gas feed or blending system might be required. Variation in feed O_2 composition may lead to different choices of microbes for a given application.

4.2.6 Reliability Issues

Roth (1967) noted that reliability of partial-pressure sensing instruments is important in maintaining composition of mixed atmospheres, whereas a pure oxygen atmosphere only requires a pressure sensor. (This may no longer be a major issue, but at that time, reliable, flight-certifiable partial-pressure sensors were only in development.)

4.2.7 Laboratory Science

It has been recognized that having cabin atmospheres other than earth-normal can cause added complexities for laboratory science experiments (Roth (1967), Bailey (1989), Brown (1991), Morgenthaler (1994), Kosmo (2000)). Comparison of flight experiments carried out in different atmospheres with control experiments that were conducted on the ground at normal atmospheric conditions is complicated because the effects of different pressure or composition on experimental variables may not be known. On the other hand, conducting experiments on the ground at flight conditions other than normal atmospheric pressure and composition adds time and expense to the experimental programs. In addition, the use of off-the-shelf laboratory equipment may be limited by lower pressure or higher oxygen concentrations.

4.2.8 Crew Thermal Comfort Zone

Because of helium's high thermal conductivity, atmospheres using it as a diluent result in increased loss of body heat for a clothed crewmember and an increase in the temperature required for crew comfort. For a crew wearing light to medium clothing, the average comfort-zone temperatures were approximately 3-4 K (5-7 $^{\circ}$ F) higher for atmospheres using oxygen/helium as compared to oxygen/nitrogen atmospheres at 34.5-48.3 kPa (5-7 psia) (Douglas (1966)). This could be an advantage to the thermal control system since running the air and liquid cooling loop temperatures hotter would allow higher radiator temperatures and thus reduced radiator mass and volume.

4.2.9 Crew Verbal Communication

Noise levels must be low enough for the crew to be able hear audible warning alarms, and not cause degradation of performance due to irritation, sleep disruption, or hindrance of verbal communication (Kosmo (2000)). As noted above, reduced cabin pressure may result in the need for higher volumetric flow of air through thermal control and life support systems. This higher airflow may result in a higher ambient noise level. However, sound does not travel as well at lower pressures, and this may offset the effect of higher air velocities (Brown (1991), Morgenthaler (1994)). Use of more coldplating for cooling in place of forced airflow may help to reduce cabin noise.

In addition to ambient noise level, atmosphere pressure and composition may also affect crewmember's ability to communicate through speech (Brown (1991), Kosmo (2000)). Pressures below about 69.0 kPa (10 psia) result in degradation of a crewmember's ability to understand speech. This was demonstrated by speech intelligibility measurements during Skylab ground-based testing at 34.5 kPa (5.0 psia) with ambient noise sources. On-orbit speech intelligibility aboard Skylab may also have been affected by facial distortions caused by the micro-gravity environment. The use of helium as a diluent has also raised concerns about verbal communication. Because of helium's low density, it causes a high-pitched distortion of the sound coming from the vocal cords, which may result in decreased intelligibility. However, this effect may not be as pronounced at the lower pressures that have been considered for atmospheres using oxygen with a helium diluent.

4.2.10 Airlocks for EVA

There are two types of airlock: those that vent their atmosphere to space, and those that pump as much atmosphere as practicable back into the habitat before depressurizing. In the Apollo era, it was calculated that the added equipment and power for the atmosphere recovery system would typically pay off if the mission involves three to six EVAs or more (Douglas (1966)). The venting-type of airlock favors lower habitat pressure, because less mass is vented in each depressurization. For the recovery-type of airlock the initial pressure is less important than the final pressure before the lock is opened. The amount of mass that is vented is directly proportional to the final pressure, but there is a tradeoff because lower pressures require more vacuum pump power. Power expended during the beginning of depressurization is much lower than that expended when the airlock pressure reaches low values (3.4-6.9 kPa (0.5-1.0 psia)) (Brown (1991)).

4.2.11 Fire Detection and Suppression

Fire suppression becomes more difficult as oxygen concentration increases (Brown (1991), Martin (1993), NASA (1993)). This is because more inert gas or fire suppressant must be introduced to reduce the oxygen concentration to the point where combustion is not sustained. For oxygen concentrations above 30%, water is generally the only effective fire suppressant (Pedley (2005)). Although fire detection may be aided by the increased ventilation flow in lower pressure cabins, flame propagation is enhanced by higher air velocities.

4.2.12 Off-gassing

Toxicological assessments of spacecraft atmospheres are based on contaminant levels expressed as mass per unit volume (mass concentration; mg/m^3) (NASA (2000)). Although the vapor pressure (and thus equilibrium mass concentration) of a volatile contaminant does not change with cabin atmosphere total pressure, the rate of off-gassing may depend on factors such as local air flow and pressure changes that are related to atmosphere pressure selection. For oxidative breakdown products, the oxygen partial pressure in the atmosphere may influence the contaminant generation and off-gassing rate.

4.2.13 Food Packaging and Processing

Food packaging may be affected by below-sea-level pressures because the trapped air in the package will expand in the reduced cabin pressure. This problem can be alleviated for some foods by vacuum packaging, but other foods (such as bread) cannot be vacuum packaged and maintain their palatability (Brown (1991), Kosmo (2000)). Another solution would be to construct a food processing facility that operates at the same pressure as the cabin atmosphere, but this may be an expensive alternative.

Also of concern is the effect that reduced pressure has on cooking and sanitization temperatures. Water boils and food cooks at lower temperatures in reduced pressures, thus cooking times may be increased. Depending on the cabin pressure, pressure cookers might be needed to speed food preparation and generate temperatures high enough to sanitize food preparation equipment (Jeng (2000)).

4.2.14 Plant Growth

Plant growth, whether for food production or life support revitalization, is affected by pressure and the concentrations of oxygen and carbon dioxide (Brown (1991), Corey (2002)). There are two engineering approaches to growing plants: integrating them into the human habitat, or segregating them into their own habitat that is optimized for their purpose.

Having plants in the human habitat has certain intangible psychological benefits, but may not provide the optimal conditions for the plants' purpose of food production or regenerable life support. Tending to them, however, is relatively easy because they are nearby in the same cabin atmosphere.

Plant growth is enhanced by low pressures (5-50 kPa), low O_2 partial pressures (2-5 kPa), and moderately elevated CO_2 partial pressures (~ 0.1 kPa). However, the optimal conditions for certain plants may be outside of the habitable range for humans, which are roughly 50-101 kPa total pressure, 15-30 kPa O_2 partial pressure, and 0-0.7 kPa CO_2 partial pressure. There is the possibility that optimal plant growth conditions may allow the use of lightweight, low-pressure growth chambers on the moon or Mars. A disadvantage to this approach is that when human tending of the plants is required, prebreathing and airlocks, problems similar to EVA, may be required. In addition, if the plants are used for air or water revitalization, power and infrastructure will be required for transfer of the air/water to and from the plant chamber (Jeng (2000)).

Thus, we see that the decision of space cabin atmospheres is a rather complex one. It must be tailored to the vehicle, to the mission, and to the state of knowledge regarding many physical and biochemical variables. The more complex space station and interplanetary missions will no doubt add to the confusion. However, as in most scientific areas, the period of confusion leads to one of more complete understanding, simplification, and utilization. The hurried confusion of space science is no exception. [Roth (1964)]

5 References

Allen, C. S., R. Burnett, J. Charles, F. Cucinotta, R. Fullerton, J. R. Goodman, A. D. Griffith, Sr., J. J. Kosmo, M. Perchonok, J. Railsback, S. Rajulu, D. Stilwell, G. Thomas, T. Tri, J. Joshi, R. Wheeler, M. Rudisill, J. Wilson, A. Mueller, and A. Simmons, "Guidelines and Capabilities for Designing Human Missions," NASA-TM-2003-210785, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Washington, DC, January 2003.

ASTM, "Standard Test Method for Measuring the Minimum Oxygen Concentration to Support Candle-Like Combustion of Plastics (Oxygen Index), ASTM D 2863-97, ASTM, West Conshohocken, PA, 1997.

Baumstark-Kahn, C., and R. Facius, "Life under Conditions of Ionizing Radiation," Ch. 17 in *Astrobiology, The Quest for the Conditions of Life*, G. Horneck and C. Baumstark-Khan, editors, Springer, Berlin (2001).

Bailey, P. S., and B. C. Conger, "Advanced EVA Systems Study Results," CTSD-00482, LESC-27789, Lockheed Engineering and Sciences Company, Houston, TX, November 1989.

Beeson, H. D., E. T. Forsyth, and D. B. Hirsch, "Total Water Demand for Suppression of Fires in Hypobaric Oxygen-Enriched Atmospheres," in *Flammability and Sensitivity of Materials in Oxygen-Enriched Atmospheres: Eighth Volume*, ASTM STP 1319, W. T. Royals, T. C. Chou, and T. A. Steinberg, editors, American Society for Testing and Materials, 1997.

Brown, J. W., J. Kosmo, and P. D. Campbell, "Internal Atmospheric Pressure and Composition for Planet Surface Habitats and Extravehicular Mobility Units," JSC-25003, LESC-29278, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Houston, TX, March 1991.

Carson, M. A., M. N. Rouen, C. C. Lutz, and J. W. McBarron, "Extravehicular Mobility Unit," Ch. 6, in *Biomedical Results of Apollo*, R. S. Johnston, L. F. Dietlein, and C. A. Berry, editors, NASA-SP-368, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Washington, DC, January 1975 (see http://lsda.jsc.nasa.gov).

Cohen, J. E., and C. Small, "Hypsographic Demography: The Distribution of Human Population by Altitude," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, **95**, 14009-14014 (1998).

Conkin, J., B. F. Edwards, J. M. Waligora, and D. J. Horrigan, "Empirical Models for Use in Designing Decompression Procedures for Space Operations," NASA-TM-100456, NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX, June 1987.

Conkin, J., K. V. Kumar, M. R. Powell, P. P. Foster, and J. M. Waligora, "A Probabilistic Model of Hypobaric Decompression Sickness Based on 66 Chamber Tests," *Aviat Space Environ Med*, **67**, 176-183 (1996).

Conkin. J, "Evidence-Based Approach to the Analysis of Serious Decompression Sickness with Application to EVA Astronauts," NASA/TP-2001-210196, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Houston, TX, January 2001a.

Conkin, J., and M. R. Powell, "Lower Body Adynamia as a Factor to Reduce the Risk of Hypobaric Decompression Sickness," *Aviat Space Environ Med*, **72**, 202-214 (2001b).

Conkin, J., unpublished memorandum titled "Equating Decompression Sickness Risk between the EMU and Orlan," May 2001c.

Conkin, J., personal communication, NASA Johnson Space Center, May 2004.

Corey, K. A., D. J. Barta, and R. M. Wheeler, "Toward Martian Agriculture: Responses of Plants to Hypobaria," *Life Support & Biosphere Science*, **8**, 103-114 (2002).

Douglas Aircraft Company, "Engineering Criteria for Spacecraft Cabin Atmosphere Selection," DAC-59169, Douglas Aircraft Company, Santa Monica, CA, November 1966.

Drake, B. G., editor, "Reference Mission Version 3.0 – Addendum to the Human Exploration of Mars: The Reference Mission of the NASA Mars Exploration Study Team," EX13-98-036, NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX, June 1998.

ESA (European Space Agency), "Flammability Testing for the Screening of Space Materials," ESA PSS-01-721 Issue 2, ESA Scientific and Technical Publications Branch, ESTEC, Noordwijk, The Netherlands, April 1992.

ECSS (European Cooperation for Space Standardization), "Space Product Assurance – Flammability Testing for the Screening of Space Materials," ECSS-Q-70-21A, ESA Publications Division, ESTEC, Noordwijk, The Netherlands, October, 1999.

Friedman, R., and S. L. Olson, "Fire Safety Applications for Spacecraft," NASA/TM-101463, NASA Lewis Research Center, Cleveland, OH, May 1989.

Friedman, R., "Fire Safety in Extraterrestrial Environments," NASA/TM-1998-207417, NASA Lewis Research Center, Cleveland, OH, May 1998.

Friedman, R., "Fire Safety in the Low-Gravity Spacecraft Environment," SAE 1999-01-1937, 29th International Conference on Environmental Systems, Denver, CO, Society of Automotive Engineers, Warrendale, PA, July 1999.

Gernhardt, M. L., "Development and Evaluation of a Decompression Stress Index Based on Tissue Bubble Dynamics," Dissertation, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, 1991.

Gernhardt, M. L., remarks at Bioastronautics EVA-IPT Meeting, NASA Johnson Space Center, May 11, 2004.

Griffin, D. E., "Control of Materials Flammability Hazards," presented at the Spacecraft Fire Safety Workshop, Cleveland, OH, NASA Marshall Space Flight Center, Huntsville, AL, June 2001.

Hawkins, W. R., and J. F. Zieglschmid, "Clinical Aspects of Crew Health," Ch. 1, p. 70, in *Biomedical Results of Apollo*, R. S. Johnston, L. F. Dietlein, and C. A. Berry, Eds., NASA-SP-368, NASA, Washington, DC, 1975.

Hilado, C. J., *Flammability Handbook for Plastics*, 5th Edition, Technomic Publishing Co., Lancaster, PA, 1998.

Hirsch, D. B., H. D. Beeson, and R. Friedman, "Microgravity Effects on Combustion of Polymers," NASA/TM-2000-209900, NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX, January 2000.

Hirsch, D. B., and H. D. Beeson, "Improved Test Method to Determine Flammability of Aerospace Materials," Halon Options Technical Working Conference, Albuquerque, NM, April 2001.

Hirsch, D. B., and H. D. Beeson, "Test Method to Determine Flammability of Aerospace Materials," *J. Testing and Evaluation*, **30**(2), 156-159 (2002).

Hirsch, D., S. Motto, A. Porter, H. Beeson, and M. D. Pedley, "Issues Related to the Flammability Assessment of Polymers for Hazard Analyses of Oxygen Systems," *Flammability and Sensitivity of Materials in Oxygen-Enriched Atmospheres: Tenth Volume, ASTM STP 1454*, T. A. Steinberg, H. D. Beeson, and B. E. Newton, Eds., ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2003.

Horrigan, D. J., J. M. Waligora, B. Beck, and R. C. Trevino, "Extravehicular Activities," Ch. 24, in *Space Biology and Medicine*, Vo1. 3 (Humans in Spaceflight, Book 2), A. E. Nicogossian, S. R. Mohler, O. G. Gazenko, and A. I. Grigoriev, editors, American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Reston, VA, 1993.

Ikeda, G. K., "Oxygen Index Tests to Evaluate the Suitability of a Given Material for Oxygen Service," *Flammability and Sensitivity of Materials in Oxygen-Enriched Atmospheres, ASTM STP 812*, B. L. Werley, Ed., American Society for Testing and Materials, 1983.

Jeng, F. F., "Crew and Thermal System Considerations of Habitat Internal Pressure for Advanced Missions," MSAD-00-0471, Lockheed Martin Space Operations, Houston, TX, August 2000.

Jeng, F. F., "White Paper on ALS Cabin Pressure, CO₂ Partial Pressure and Diluent Gas," MSAD-03-0133, Lockheed Martin Space Operations, Houston, TX, March 2003.

Kosmo, J, "Space Vehicle Cabin/Habitat and Space Suit Pressure Selection Considerations," Internal NASA/JSC Document, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Houston, TX, ca 2000.

Lange, K. E., B. E. Duffield, and F. F. Jeng, "Bounding the Design Space for Spacecraft Internal Atmosphere Pressure and Composition," briefing to the Office of Biological and Physical Research, NASA Headquarters, Washington, DC, Lockheed Martin Space Operations, Houston, TX, June 2, 2004a.

Lange, K. E., B. E. Duffield, and F. F. Jeng, "Defining the Cabin and Space Suit Pressure Design Space," presented at the Advanced EVA Forum, Houston, TX, Lockheed Martin Space Operations, Houston, TX, June 29, 2004b.

Lange, K. E., B. E. Duffield, F. F. Jeng, and P. D. Campbell, "Exploration Spacecraft and Space Suit Internal Atmosphere Pressure and Composition," presented at the Bioastronautics Investigators' Workshop, Galveston, TX, Lockheed Martin Space Operations, Houston, TX, January 10, 2005.

Lin, C. H., "Crew and Thermal Systems Considerations in Selection of Habitat Internal Pressure," Internal NASA/JSC Document, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Houston, TX, February 1991.

Martin, C. E., and R. C. DaLee, "Spacecraft Fire Detection and Suppression (FDS) Systems: An Overview and Recommendations for Future Flights," SAE 932166, 23rd International Conference on Environmental Systems, Colorado Springs, CO, Society of Automotive Engineers, Warrendale, PA, July 1993.

McBarron, J. W., C. E Whitsett, G. I. Severin, and I. P. Abramov, "Individual Systems for Crewmember Life Support and Extravehicular Activity," Ch. 14, in *Space Biology and Medicine*, A. E. Nicogossian, S. R. Mohler, O. G. Gazenko, and A. I. Grigoryev, editors, American Institute of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Washington, DC, 1993.

McCarthy, K. B., and J A. Green, "The Effect of Reduced Cabin Pressure on the Crew and the Life Support System," SAE 911331, 21st International Conference on Environmental Systems, San Francisco, CA, Society of Automotive Engineers, Warrendale, PA, July 1991.

Morgenthaler, G. W., D. A. Fester, and C. G. Cooley, "An Assessment of Habitat Pressure, Oxygen Fraction, and EVA Suit Design for Space Operations," *Acta Astronautica*, **32**, 39-49 (1994).

NASA, "Trade Study Summary: Balance between Habitat and Crew Module Pressures and Suit Pressure, Risk of Decompression Sickness, and Pre Breathe Time," Trade Study No. FLO-92:19, First Lunar Outpost (FLO) Project, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Houston, TX, 1992.

NASA, "Independent Assessment of the Proposed Fire Detection and Suppression Subsystem for the Space Station Freedom," NASA Lewis Research Center Fire Safety Assessment Team, R. Friedman, Chairman, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Cleveland, OH, April 1993.

NASA, Man-Systems Integration Standards, NASA-STD-3000, Vol. 1, Rev. B, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Houston, TX, July 1995.

NASA, "Flammability, Odor, Offgassing, and Compatibility Requirements and Test Procedures for Materials in Environments that Support Combustion," NASA-STD-6001, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Huntsville, AL, February 1998.

NASA, "International Space Station Medical Operations Requirements Documents (ISS MORD)," SSP 50260, Rev. A, NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX, May 2000.

NASA, "Space Shuttle Operational Flight Rules," NSTS-12820, Vol. A, Mission Operations Directorate, NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX, November 2002.

NASA, "ISS Generic Operational Flight Rules," NSTS-12820, Vol. B, Mission Operations Directorate, NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX, August 2003.

NASA, "Update Boldface, Rationale and Documentation Sources for Flight Rule A13-51, Cabin Pressure," CR SM-FI-148, NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX, September, 2004.

NFPA, "Recommended Practice on Materials, Equipment, and Systems Used in Oxygen-Enriched Atmospheres," NFPA 53, 2004 Edition, National Fire Protection Association, Quincy, MA, 2004.

Nicogossian, A. E., and J. F. Parker, *Space Physiology and Medicine*, NASA-SP-447, p. 98, U. S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, 1982.

Olson, S.L., "Mechanisms of Microgravity Flame Spread Over a Thin Solid Fuel: Oxygen and Opposed Flow Effects," *Combust. Sci. and Tech.*, **76**, 233-249 (1991).

Orndoff, E., "Development and Evaluation of Polybenzoxazole Fibrous Structures," NASA-TM-104814, NASA Johnson Space Center, Houston, TX, September 1995.

Paul, T. H., "The Effect of Reduced Operating Pressure on Cabin Fan/Duct Systems," MSAD-04-0205, Lockheed Martin Space Operations, Houston, TX, July 2004.

Paul, T. H., and B. E. Duffield, "Reduced Pressure Testing Evaluation – Revision A," MSAD-05-0092, Lockheed Martin Space Operations, Houston, TX, January 2005.

Pickard, J. S., "The Atmosphere and Respiration," Ch. 2 in *Fundamentals of Aerospace Medicine*, 3rd ed., R. L. DeHart and J. R. Davis, editors, Lippincott Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA, 2002.

Pedley, M. D., personal communication, NASA Johnson Space Center, March 2005.

Powell, M. R., D. J. Horrigan, J. M. Waligora, and W. T. Norfleet, "Extravehicular Activities," Ch. 6, in *Space Physiology and Medicine*, 3rd ed., A. E. Nicogossian, C. L. Huntoon, and S. L. Pool, editors, Lea and Febiger, Malvern, PA, 1993.

Roth, E. M., presentation to the 4th National Conference on the Peaceful Uses of Space, Boston, MA, April 29 - May 2, 1964.

Roth, E. M., "Space Cabin Atmospheres Part IV – Engineering Tradeoffs of One- Versus Two-Gas Systems," NASA SP-118, 1967.

Roth, E. M., "Criteria for the Selection of Space Cabin Atmospheres," Proceedings of the Annual Aviation and Space Conference, Beverly Hills, CA, June 16-19, 1968.

Shvartz, E., "Advantages of a Low-Oxygen Environment in Space Cabins," *Aviat. Space Environ. Med.*, 272-276 (1990).

Waligora, J. M., D. J. Horrigan, and A. Nicogossian, "The Physiology of Spacecraft and Space Suit Atmosphere Selection," *Acta Astronautica*, **23**, 171-177 (1991).

Waligora, J. M., M. R. Powell, and R. L. Sauer, "Spacecraft Life Support Systems," Ch. 5, in *Space Physiology and Medicine*, 3rd ed., A. E. Nicogossian, C. L. Huntoon, and S. L. Pool, editors, Lea and Febiger, Malvern, PA, 1993.

Webb, P., editor, *Bioastronautics Data Book*, NASA-SP-3006, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Washington, DC (1964).

West, J. B., *Respiratory Physiology – the Essentials*, 4th edition, Williams and Wilkins, Baltimore, MD, 1990.

Wilson J. W., F. A. Cucinotta, H. Tai, L. C. Simonsen, J. L. Shinn, S. A. Thibeault, and M. Y. Kim, "Galactic and Solar Cosmic Ray Shielding in Deep Space," NASA-TM-3682, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Hampton, VA, December 1997.

Wilson, J. W, E. H. Glaessgen, B. Jensen, R. Orwoll, E. Saether, D. O. Adams, D. H. Humes, W. C. Kelliher, S. A. Thibeault, B. M. Anderson, J. E. Nealy, and R. K. Tripathi, "Next Generation Shielding Materials for Earth Neighborhood Infrastructure," AIAA 2003-6258, AIAA Space 2003 Conference and Exposition, Long Beach, CA, September 2003.

Wilson, J. W, B. J. Jensen, S. A. Thibeault, Tan-Hung Hou, E. Saether, E. H. Glaessgen, C. K. Chang, D. H. Humes, F. F. Badavi, R. Kiefer and D. O. Adams, "E-beam-Cure Fabrication of Polymer Fiber/Matrix Composites for Multifunctional Radiation Shielding," AIAA 2004-6029, AIAA Space 2004 Conference and Exposition, San Diego, CA, September 2004.

6 Appendix – Alveolar Gas Equation

The Alveolar Gas Equation relates the oxygen partial pressure within the alveoli of the lung, the site of oxygen transport to the blood, to the oxygen partial pressure within the breathing atmosphere (inspired air). This equation is found in standard physiology textbooks, but in a form that neglects the partial pressure of carbon dioxide in the inspired air. Because elevated carbon dioxide levels generally exist in spacecraft internal atmospheres, this assumption may not be valid. A general form of the Alveolar Gas Equation is derived below that includes the effect of the inspired carbon dioxide partial pressure.

6.1 Respiratory Gas Partitioning

With each breath, a volume of air is inspired (subscript I) that is partitioned between active alveoli (subscript A) and dead space (subscript D). The latter does not participate in exchange of gasses other than water vapor. The dead space includes conducting airways (anatomic dead space) and poorly perfused alveoli (physiologic dead space). In a normal breath at rest, the volume of air inspired is referred to as the tidal volume $V_{\rm T}$:

$$V_{\rm T} = V_{\rm A} + V_{\rm D} \tag{6-1}$$

Expired air (subscript E) includes contributions from both the alveolar volume and dead space volume. The moles of oxygen and carbon dioxide in the expired air can be expressed in terms of the molar concentration, c, in each volume:

$$c_{\rm EO2}V_{\rm T} = c_{\rm AO2}V_{\rm A} + c_{\rm DO2}V_{\rm D}$$
(6-2)

$$c_{\rm ECO2}V_{\rm T} = c_{\rm ACO2}V_{\rm A} + c_{\rm DCO2}V_{\rm D}$$
(6-3)

Similar equations can be written in terms of the partial pressure, p, assuming that the expired gas from each volume has equilibrated to body temperature:⁸

$$p_{\rm EO2}V_{\rm T} = p_{\rm AO2}V_{\rm A} + p_{\rm DO2}V_{\rm D} \tag{6-4}$$

$$p_{\text{ECO2}}V_{\text{T}} = p_{\text{ACO2}}V_{\text{A}} + p_{\text{DCO2}}V_{\text{D}}$$
(6-5)

On a dry basis, the molar fraction, F, of oxygen and carbon dioxide in the dead space are assumed to be the same as in the inspired air. Then,

$$F_{\rm IO2} = \frac{p_{\rm IO2}}{(P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm IH2O})} = \frac{p_{\rm DO2}}{(P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm DH2O})}$$
(6-6)

$$F_{\rm ICO2} \equiv \frac{p_{\rm ICO2}}{(P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm IH2O})} = \frac{p_{\rm DCO2}}{(P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm DH2O})}$$
(6-7)

⁸ From the ideal gas law, $c = p/R_gT$, where R_g is the gas constant and T is the absolute gas temperature.

Combining equations 6-6 and 6-7 with equations 6-4 and 6-5 yields

$$p_{\rm EO2}V_{\rm T} = p_{\rm AO2}V_{\rm A} + p_{\rm IO2}V_{\rm D} \left(\frac{P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm DH2O}}{P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm IH2O}}\right)$$
(6-8)

$$p_{\rm ECO2}V_{\rm T} = p_{\rm ACO2}V_{\rm A} + p_{\rm ICO2}V_{\rm D} \left(\frac{P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm DH2O}}{P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm IH2O}}\right)$$
(6-9)

6.2 Time-Average Molar Balances

Molar gas flows active in respiratory exchange are illustrated in Figure 6-1.



Figure 6-1. Respiratory gas exchange.

A time-average molar balance yields

$$\dot{n}_{\rm E} = \dot{n}_{\rm I} + \dot{n}_{\rm H2O} + \dot{n}_{\rm CO2} - \dot{n}_{\rm O2} \tag{6-10}$$

Similar balances on oxygen, carbon dioxide, and water result in the following equations:

$$\left(\frac{p_{\rm EO2}}{P_{\rm B}}\right)\dot{n}_{\rm E} = \left(\frac{p_{\rm IO2}}{P_{\rm B}}\right)\dot{n}_{\rm I} - \dot{n}_{\rm O2} \tag{6-11}$$

$$\left(\frac{p_{\rm ECO2}}{P_{\rm B}}\right)\dot{n}_{\rm E} = \left(\frac{p_{\rm ICO2}}{P_{\rm B}}\right)\dot{n}_{\rm I} + \dot{n}_{\rm CO2} \tag{6-12}$$

$$\left(\frac{p_{\rm EH2O}}{P_{\rm B}}\right)\dot{n}_{\rm E} = \left(\frac{p_{\rm IH2O}}{P_{\rm B}}\right)\dot{n}_{\rm I} + \dot{n}_{\rm H2O}$$
(6-13)

Assuming that expired gas from each volume is saturated with water vapor at body temperature,

$$p_{\rm EH2O} = p_{\rm DH2O} = p_{\rm AH2O} = 47 \text{ mmHg}$$
 (6-14)

6.3 **Resultant Equations**

Equations 6-8 through 6-14 provide all of the relations necessary to derive the Alveolar Gas Equation. After considerable algebraic manipulations to eliminate variables, the following general form is obtained:

$$p_{AO2} = \frac{p_{IO2} \left[p_{ACO2} (1 - RQ) + RQ(P_{B} - p_{AH2O}) \right] + p_{ICO2} (P_{B} - p_{AH2O}) - p_{ACO2} (P_{B} - p_{IH2O})}{p_{ICO2} (1 - RQ) + RQ(P_{B} - p_{IH2O})}$$
(6-15)

where RQ is the respiratory quotient (or, more appropriately, respiratory exchange ratio) that can be defined as follows:

$$RQ = \frac{\dot{n}_{\rm CO2}}{\dot{n}_{\rm O2}} \tag{6-16}$$

With the assumption that $p_{ICO2} = 0$, equation 6-15 reduces to the more familiar form found in physiology textbooks:

$$p_{AO2} = F_{IO2}(P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm AH2O}) - p_{\rm ACO2} \left[F_{\rm IO2} + \frac{(1 - F_{\rm IO2})}{RQ} \right]$$
(6-17)

The alveolar nitrogen partial pressure, p_{AN2} , can be obtained from the sum of partial pressures:

$$p_{\rm AN2} = P_{\rm B} - p_{\rm AO2} - p_{\rm AH2O} - p_{\rm ACO2}$$
(6-18)

7 Abbreviations and Acronyms

AIM	Advanced Integration Matrix
ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials
CO_2	carbon dioxide
DCS	Decompression Sickness
EMU	Extravehicular Mobility Unit
EVA	Extravehicular Activity
EVAs	Extravehicular Activities
ft	feet
GCR	Galactic Cosmic Radiation
He	helium
ISS	International Space Station
kPa	kilopascals
m	meters
MAPTIS	Materials and Processes Technical Information System
min	minutes
mm Hg	millimeters of mercury
N ₂	nitrogen
NASA	National Aeronautics and Space Administration
NFPA	National Fire Protection Association
O_2	oxygen
P(DCS)	probability of decompression sickness
P(serious DCS)	probability of serious (Type II) decompression sickness
psia	pounds per square inch absolute
QDM	Quick Don Mask
SPE	Solar Particle Event
U.S.	United States

8 List of Symbols

С	molar concentration				
F	molar fraction (generally on dry basis)				
'n	molar flow				
Р	total pressure				
р	partial pressure				
R	tissue ratio				
R _g	ideal gas constant				
RQ	respiratory quotient (respiratory exchange ratio)				
Т	absolute temperature				
t	time				
<i>t</i> _{1/2}	half-time for inert gas (nitrogen) elimination in specific body tissue type				
V	volume of air				
Subscripts (frequently combined) ⁹					
А	alveolar				
В	barometric (ambient)				
CO2	carbon dioxide				
D	dead space				
E	expired				

⁹ For example, p_{AO2} is the alveolar oxygen partial pressure.

H2O	water
Ι	inspired
N2	nitrogen
N2-Tissue	nitrogen in tissue
O2	oxygen
Suit	space suit
Т	tidal

REPOR	Fo	Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188						
Public reporting burden for this collection of information is estimated to average 1 hour per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding this burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to Washington Headquarters Services, Directorate for Information Operations and Reports, 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, and to the Office of Management and Burdent Panerwork Reduction Project (0704-048). Washington D. 20503								
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave Blank	2. REPORT DATE June 2005	3. REPORT TYPE AND DAT NASA Contractor Report	ID DATES COVERED					
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE Bounding the Spacecraft Atmosph	5. FU	5. FUNDING NUMBERS						
6. AUTHOR(S) Kevin E. Lange, Alan T. Perka, Br								
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION N	AME(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)		8. PE	8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION				
Lyndon B. Johnson Space Center Houston, Texas 77058	S-960							
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGE	ENCY NAME(S) AND ADDRESS(E	S)	10. S	10. SPONSORING/MONITORING				
National Aeronautics and Space A Washington, DC 20546-0001	CR-2005-213689							
11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES								
12a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILABILITY S	12b. [12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE						
7121 Standard Hanover, MD 21076-1320	Valuable from the NASA Center for Aerospace Information (CASI) /121 Standard Hanover, MD 21076-1320 Category: 54							
13. ABSTRACT (<i>Maximum 200 words</i>) The selection of spacecraft and space suit atmospheres for future human space exploration missions will play an important, if not critical, role in the ultimate safety, productivity, and cost of such missions. Internal atmosphere pressure and composition (particularly oxygen concentration) influence many aspects of spacecraft and space suit design, operation, and technology development. Optimal atmosphere solutions must be determined by iterative process involving research, design, development, testing, and systems analysis. A necessary first step in this process is the establishment of working bounds on the atmosphere design space.								
14. SUBJECT TERMS	5. NUME PAGE	BER OF	16. PRICE CODE					
manned spacecraft, space suits, pr support systems.	54	4						
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT	18. SECURITY CLASSIFICATIO OF THIS PAGE	N 19. SECURITY CLASSIFI OF ABSTRACT	CATION	20. LIMITA	TION OF ABSTRACT			
Unclassified	Unclassified	Unclassified	Unlimited					
Standard Form 298 (Rev Feb 89) (MS Word Mar 97) NSN 7540-01-280-5500 Prescribed by ANSI Std. 239-18 298-102								